Chapter 1 PLANS, A BATTLE . ..
s AND FAILURE

I

N

Mr. President, 1 know you're doubtful about this, but I stood at this very
desk and said to President Eisenhower about a similar operation in Guate-
mala, ‘I believe it will work.” And I say to you now, Mr. President, that the

prospects for this plan are even better than our prospects were in Guatemala.

— Allen Dulles to
President Kennedy'

in January 1961, President Kennedy and his advisers began to review plans
developed by the Eisenhower administration for the military overthrow of
Cuban Premier Fidel Castro. In April, Kennedy approved an invasion by
1,200 Cuban expatriates.? It failed. With hindsight, a member of the ad-
ministration described it as “the most screwed up operation there has ever
been.” Next, Kennedy ordered Operation MONGOOSE, until that time the

largest covert operation

undertaken by the CIA. That failed, too.

This chapter describes the main events of the Bay of Pigs through the
beachhead collapse. It reviews, as part of that description, the Guatemala suc-
cess (in 1954) which shaped the plans, and it reviews the CIA’s contract with
the Mafia to assassinate Castro at the time of the invasion.*

BACKGROUND

In 1959 the international arena, in American popular and elite conception,
was the scene of a cold war: America and its allies were opposed by the forces
of the Sino-Soviet bloc. After Castro overthrew the Cuban dictator, Batista,

~he began, in the eyes of

American policymakers, to grow increasingly anti-

American and pro-Communist, spurning efforts by Washington to establish

good relations.

This official viewpoint is described in a background memorandum provided
by the State Department:

When the Castro regime came to power in 1959, the United States looked upon
it with sympathy, recognized it almost immediately, and welcomed its promises

of political freedom and

social justice for the Cuban people. We made clear our

willingness to discuss Cuba’s economic needs. Despite our concern at the Cuban
regime's mounting hostility toward the United States and its growing communist
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tendencies, we attempted patiently and consistently from early 1959 until
mid-1960 to negotiate differences with the regime.

Elements in the Castro movement engaged in anti-American activities during
the revolution against Batista. Soon after it came to power in 1959, the Castro
government turned away from its previous promises, permitted communist in-
fluence to grow, attacked and persecuted its own supporters in Cuba who ex-
pressed opposition to communism, arbitrarily seized U.S. properties, and made
a series of baseless charges against the United States. It ignored, rejected or im-
posed impossible conditions on repeated United States overtures to cooperate
and negotiate. In 1960 Cuba established close political, economic, and military
relationships with the Sino-Soviet bloc, while increasing the pace and vehemence
of measures and attacks against the United States. We did not take measures
in our own behalf to isolate Cuba until July 1960.%

To American policymakers, Castro, whom many had originally hoped was
only a socialist and a nationalist, exhibited his true colors as a Communist
revolutionary established in the Western Hemisphere, ninety miles from
American shores. He threatened to spread Communist revolution in Central
and South America and challenged traditionally claimed (Monroe Doctrine)
American hegemony by allying himself with the Soviet Union. The Soviet
Union and other Communist nations had agreed to buy Cuban sugar and to
supply Cuba with foreign aid and arms.

This evolution did not mean that the American government would attempt,
automatically, to overthrow Castro by military force. People who believed
that Castro had become an urgent problem that needed a solution, and who
had a solution in mind, set out to sell both ideas. The CIA promoted Castro
as a serious threat, defined the objective to be his elimination, and proposed
the solution (a covert operation directed by themselves).

The key mover at the CIA was its deputy director for plans (the CIA’s
designation for espionage and clandestine operations), Richard Bissell. In a
phrase later coined to describe some of the men in the Kennedy administra-
tion, he was an “action intellectual.” A former member of the economics
faculty at M.1.T. and Yale, he was an unusually gifted man, equally admired
for analytical brilliance, his articulate mastery of material, and his ability to
get things done. Within “the agency” (as the CIA called itself), he was con-
sidered likely to become the next director. He had developed the U-2 spy
plane, one of the CIA’s major contributions to improved intelligence about
the Soviet nuclear threat. He did it in absolute secrecy and in two years (the

air force, which had campaigned for the assignment, estimated it would take
seven years). He came to government service from an elite background:
independent wealth, Groton, Yale. He did not need to be cautious, and he
was not there to push papers. He had an abiding intention to use human in-
telligence to understand the world and to shape history. He had gained ex-
perience with this type of work as an outstanding administrator and planner
with the Marshall Plan, reconstructing the economies of Europe. He had the
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sense of mastery to take responsibility for the evolution of Latin America.
And he had the intellectual ability and nervous energy to welcome such a
challenge: he was constantly pacing, fidgeting with paper clips, moving quick-
ly, flipping through briefing memos at high speed, taking in and recalling
it all.$

The director of the Central Intelligence Agency was Allen Dulles, another
holdover appointment from the Eisenhower administration, where his rela-
tionship with his older brother, John Foster Dulles, the secretary of state,
had helped to give the CIA and its covert operations a major role in American
foreign policy. He had achieved a distinguished record in espionage and
counterintelligence during World War 11, and he was widely regarded as
America’s foremost intelligence expert. He loved the details of spying, “trade-
craft” as it is known, and would spend major portions of his time reviewing
the minute details of the various activities of his individual spies. A quiet man,
a pipe smoker, he relished the impression of mystery and of knowing more
than he would reveal. Two of the CIA’s great successes during his tenure were
the overthrow of the Mossadegh government of Iran (replacing him with tltxe
Shah of Iran) and the overthrow, in 1954, of the left-leaning government In
Guatemala. People in Washington knew Allen Dulles had masterminded both
overthrows, but they did not know how these feats were accomplished. The
mystique of the CIA’s magical power to accomplish such things was one he
nurtured. He was not known as a good administrator, nor did he consider
this his metier.”

Dulles met with President Eisenhower in March 1960 to review ClA-devel-
oped options for covert operations against Castro. He was seeking guidance
and an official mandate for planning. He presented Eisenhower with a few
ideas for minor sabotage which Eisenhower realized, as Dulles knew he would,
gave no chance to be more than minor harassment. Eisenhower responded
that if Dulles were serious about overthrowing Castro, the CIA should come
back with a “program.” Thus the instruction to begin became a presidential
instruction. This maneuver to induce Eisenhower to initiate the instruction
he wanted was not malicious: it was a small, polished detail of the tradecraft
of managing presidents, a skill that senior civil servants learn well.?

With this mandate, the CIA drafted a four-part proposal to (a) create a

“Cuban government in exile; (b) mount a propaganda campaign against Castro

from secret, covertly funded, transmitters; (c) build covert intelligence and
“action capability” networks on the island; and (d) develop a paramilitary
force for future guerrilla action. Eisenhower approved the proposal on
March 17, 1960.

But the president’s attitude was casual, even unenthusiastic. He did not con-
sider Castro a major threat. He was willing for the C1A to develop plans and
then to have a look at them.®

Vice-President Richard Nixon, who had announced he would run for the
presidency, took a strong personal interest in the project and urged Eisen-
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hower to eliminate Castro before election day." Nixon judged rightly the
role Castro would play in American politics. The need for greater toughness
against Communism did become a major issue in that election: Kennedy, now
remembered for initiatives to reduce the dangers of the cold war and increase
selective cooperation with the Soviet Union, in fact was a hard-liner in the
campaign. He charged the Eisenhower administration had allowed a “missile
gap” to develop in the Soviet Union’s favor. And he criticized it for allowing
a Communist government to come to power in Cuba. Prior to his last tele-
vised debate with Nixon, and unaware of the Eisenhower administration’s
planning, Kennedy’s aides issued a statement to toughen his challenge, call-
ing for “strengthening anti-Castro forces in exile . . . who offer eventual hope
of overthrowing Castro.™" Kennedy's aides later claimed he had gone to bed
before the statement was discussed with him. 1t made Nixon furious as he
thought Kennedy had been briefed on the CIA plans. (His charge of duplicity,
in his Six Crises, prompted the rebuttal from the Kennedy White House.) He
was unable to breach intelligence to reveal what the Republican administration
had been doing and defend himself, and he felt forced to oppose military in-
tervention in their televised debate. The exact phrasing used by a Kennedy
aide (Richard Goodwin) may have gone further than the candidate would have
gone. But the tone of the campaign, and the statement, exemplified a truth
of American politics that Kennedy carried with him in later discussions of
whether to abort the invasion: in America, a politician had a good campaign
issue if he charged insufficient toughness against Communism by an in-
cumbent administration." )

The CIA’s plans had grown by the time Allen Dulles and Richard Bissell
briefed President-elect Kennedy on November 18, 1960." After the go-ahead
from Eisenhower they had tried a great many things. These were not work-
ing. Underground networks established by the Cubans were almost always
penetrated by Castro."* Arms drops were frequently intercepted. As Richard
Bissell later described their problem: 1 think that every team we sent in was
picked up within a few days. . . . [The political exiles in Miami] all claimed
large and organized followings on the island. Well, they may have had vague
sympathizers on the island, but they had no way of communicating with them
securely, no command and control over them, and therefore there were no
internal underground cells to which we could send supplies, or with which
we could establish communication. It was a mess.”"

The CIA’s covert operations and supplies, together with those provided by
private right-wing American groups, might produce several bombings a week
in Cuba, but there was no obvious effect save the rate of executions of the
traitors and terrorists Castro’s police captured. The Castro regime, if any-
thing, seemed able to survive. And Castro’s influence appeared to grow: by
July 1960, American embassies throughout Latin America were reporting that
Castro was exciting interest in revolutionary approaches. The Eisenhower ad-
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ministration countered by beginning (in September 1960 at Bogota, Colum-
bia) a modest program for economic development and social change, f unded
at $500 million.'®

With Castro to receive increased arms shipments from the Soviet bloc, in-
cluding MIG jets, an initiative to overthrow him by a covert operation now
appeared to require expanded capability, and this needed to be available
quickly. Thus, during the administration transition period, primarily at Bis-
sell’s direction, the plan grew, without formal authorization, to envision a
concerted military effort. Dulles and Bissell told the president-elect what they
were doing. He expressed willingness for them to continue, and even enthusi- -
asm, but he was also unwilling to commit himself until he took office in
January."’ .

During a transition meeting on January 19, 1961, Eisenhower spoke fa-
vorably to Kennedy about the Cuba project: America had a “responsibility”
to “bring it to a successful conclusion.” The endorsement was ambiguous but
probably contributed to a favorable framework for its initial evaluation.
Eisenhower was America’s most respected military leader: his judgment on
a military matter would carry weight.'

The first CIA plan, the Trinidad plan, was presented in outline on Jan-
uary 28, 1961; it called for landing 1,200 troops at the town of Trinidad on
the southeast coast of Cuba, a dramatic “shock” invasion in daylight. The
Trinidad area was thought to include a large number of disaffected people
who would join the invaders to create an impression of momentum.'® More-
over, the site was near the Escambray Mountains, a natural fallback for guer-
rilla operations if the assault began to fail. (The Escambray Mountains previ-
ously had been used as a base by Castro in his guerrilla war against Batista.
In 1960 the mountains were the location of anti-Castro guerrillas being sup-
plied by CIA airdrops.)®

The Guatemala Model

To understand the rationale of the Trinidad plan, it is necessary to review
the overthrow of Jacobo Arbenz, the president of Guatemala, designed by

““the CIA in 1954. The CIA intended to repeat this earlier operation, an ex-

plicit case of learning from experience: Dulles and Bissell sought to transfer
a past success, to draw on their understanding of a low-cost method to top-
ple a Latin American government. Semiofficial historians of Kennedy’s deci-
sion (Schlesinger, Sorenson) later portrayed the Bay of Pigs as an operation
that should never have been approved. They understated the CIA’s case. It
had sophistication, and a track record that did not depend on battlefield vic-
tory or on a spontaneous mass uprising, which the White House hoped to
ignite.

To overthrow the democratically elected Arbenz government, the CIA

CGL-B
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approached several expatriates to consider which to install in his place. 1t
finally struck a deal to support Lt. Col. Carlos Castillo Armas, a former
Guatemalan soldier who had been sentenced to death for an unsuccessful coup
- attempted in late 1950, had escaped from prison, and fled to neighboring
Honduras. At the same time, a new American ambassador with experience
in anti-Communist work in Greece, John Peurifoy, was dispatched to Guate-
mala to plan and coordinate covert operations within the country.?

The plan was to conduct psychological and political warfare. Secretary of
State Dulles and the State Department orchestrated a major propaganda cam-
paign against the Arbenz regime, initiated an Organization of American States
resolution opposing Communist influence in the hemisphere, dramatized a
shipment of arms purchased by Arbenz from Communist-bloc sources, and
signed defense treaties with the governments of Nicaragua and H.ondura,\s.22
By the time the invasion occurred, the Arbenz government and all of Latin
America were intended to understand that the power of the United States was
committed — although in unknown ways—and to believe the fate of the Ar-
benz government to be sealed. Preparation also included secret radio transmit-
ters, run by the CIA and broadcasting across the border, carrying ictitious
messages to a (nonexistent) large underground. The transmissions were clearly
audible throughout Guatemala and were designed to play on the nerves and
morale of Arbenz and his key supporters. They did panic the government
(which learned of the invasion preparations in Nicaragua as early as January
1954) into mass arrests, torture, and murder of suspected collaborators in the
urban middle class, further alienating supporters. (The McCarthy period in
the United States, when there was no realistic danger of invasion, provides
a basis for grasping the fear the CIA began to generate within the Guatemalan
government and among its supporters.)®

Technological tricks of psychological warfare were designed to create the -

impression that a small invasion force was large and ominous. Several bomb-
ers, P-47 fighters, and C-47 transports were assembled, and 150 troops trained,
in Nicaragua. The small Castillo Armas “army” crossed the border on June
19, 1954 and stopped a few miles inside the country to wait for the govern-
ment to collapse. Several small bombing raids were directed against Guate-
mala City targets (e.g., army barracks), and there were leafiet drops over the
capital. The propaganda radio stepped up its messages and the CIA adroitly
engaged its technological weapons, selectively jammed the communications
of the Guatemalan army and fed false orders and reports of a larger inva-
sion over its radio network. Thus, believing his country under major attack,
Arbenz found himself unable to learn what was happening or even to con-
trol his own troops. The army was not eager to fight, especially faced with

the possibility such resistance would only bring invasion by American troops. .

The early air strikes were taken to be a token of what might follow. Defeat
was considered inevitable. With the army in disarray, except for desultory
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shooting, there was little combat. The main clash, the “Battle of Chiquimula,”
left a total of seventeen dead on both sides.

Luck was also on the CIA’s side. A Guatemalan pilot defected. He refused
to broadcast an appeal to his fellow pilots, out of fear of reprisals against
his family. But the CIA operatives showed initiative, got him drunk, and per-
suaded him to talk about what he would say if he felt free to make an appeal.
Secretly, they tape-recorded him, then spliced the tape and broadcast it.
Arbenz, fearing more defections, grounded the remainder of his air force.”

Within eight days the army top command forced Arbenz to resign. The
head of a new three-man government, Colonel Diaz, vowed to continue the
fight and thus was not satisfactory to the United States. In two days, after
the CIA dropped two bombs on the main military barracks and destroyed
the government radio station, a meeting with Ambassador Peurifoy produced
a more acceptable and staunchly anti-Communist head of government, Col.
Elfego Monzon. The ambassador personally negotiated the paperwork of the
formal transition to Castillo Armas at a meeting in San Salvador, and Castillo
Armas arrived at the capital aboard the ambassador’s private plane.?

The CIA strategy was to produce a victory by psychological demoraliza-
tion and political destabilization, not by a military defeat. Faced by an ap-
parently massive invasion, the dimensions of which it could not evaluate, and
which was backed by an ominous association with the power of the United
States, the Arbenz government —as Richard Bissell interpreted it —“lost its
nerve.”” Scared and demoralized, key elite supporters abandoned Arbenz
rather than die for his hopeless cause. American embassy contacts with the
military aided the plan, both in the transfer of power and in encouraging them
to block a last-ditch Arbenz plan to distribute arms to proregime peasants.

Leaving aside the issue of whether historians will eventually conclude this
to be an accurate appraisal of why the CIA won in Guatemala, what is crucial
here is that it is what the CIA thought happened.?®

To use this same plan against Cuba did not depend upon history learned
secondhand from documents. It was personal knowledge. Allen Dulles was
CIA director throughout this period. In 1954 his special assistant was Richard
Bissell, later chief Bay of Pigs planner. Frank Wisner, deputy director for

_ Plans in 1954 (the operational head for Guatemala) had resigned in 1958, but
his assistant, beginning in April 1954, was Tracy Barnes, who was to be special
assistant to Richard Bissell during the Bay of Pigs. The deputy director of
the CIA at the Bay of Pigs, General Charles P. Cabell, held the same posi-
tion during Guatemala. The propaganda operation was run by the same man
(David Phillips). E. Howard Hunt (later of Watergate repute) was chief of
political action for Guatemala and served in the same capacity for most of
the Bay of Pigs operation. The CIA station chief in Guatemala City (“Jake
Engler”) was Hunt’s superior during the Bay of Pigs. In 1960 and 1961 the
old team, enthusiastic to repeat its earlier success, went into action again. The
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speed with which they mounted their new operation reflected this unique and
superb institutional memory.

From the Guatemala success several lessons carried forward —in addition
1o knowledge that this bold and clever plan could work. Each, while not a
dramatic lesson, nevertheless confirmed understandings that were to continue
in 1961 planning, although to mixed effect. _

1. American activity violated several formal treaty commitments made in
earlier decades by the United States.? But it was apparent that few Ameri-
cans would be upset by overthrow ofa pro-Communist government, whatever
international laws proposed.

2. The operation remained “plausibly deniable.” No journalist published
hard evidence that the C1A was involved. Alert journalists suspected this was
more than a patriotic action by the Guatemalans themselves, but they made
little effort to prove it, or at least little headway. Eisenhower’s of ficial denial
was accepted. Such press loyalty did not continue in 1961.

3. Both the United Nations and the Organization of American States proved
ineffectual instruments of collective security to safeguard Guatemala’s na-
tional boundaries against f oreign aggression. No one, of course, believed such
organizations would be effective, but the United States maneuvered to assure
the impotence of the guarantees of international charters and to keep even
official inquiries from being launched.’® And the Soviet Union sent no aid

and engaged in no reprisals. In Latin America, the United States was reassured
that it could overthrow Communist (or potentially Communist) governments
without third parties coming to the aid of the target country. ’

4. When several of the invader aircraft were disabled or shot down, CIA
Director Allen Dulles—as we have seen — gained ready assent from President
Eisenhower for emergency resupply from American stores, despite State De-
partment objections.” Although it did not in itself determine these same
planners’ expectations of Kennedy, the experience did not contradict general
knowledge that a politician, once committed, might change earlier restrictive
guidelines rather than allow such an operation to fail.

5. Eisenhower, and other politicians, learned that covert operations were
a useful method for cold war interventions in underdeveloped countries. After
the Guatemala success, the role of C1A covert activities in American foreign
policy expanded.

Another event after 1954 probably favored use of the Guatemala model
and worked against direct introduction of American troops. In the 1950s,
Americans prided themselves on their idealism and on their moral superiority
to crass power politics, specifically, moral superiority to the Soviet Union.
A Soviet invasion of Hungary in 1956, ostensibly in support of liberation,

and the creation of “puppet government” were widely reported: photographs '

showing Soviet tanks rolling into Budapest and the shooting of nationalist

freedom fighters brought outrage in the American press. Privately, Kennedy

ey TV
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and his advisers probably favored the Guatemala model as a device to deal

w1‘t!| Castro thgt would avoid charges (and a self-image) of cynically under-
taking Hungarian-type suppression with American troops.*?

Offstage: The CIA Plan to Assassinate Castro

At this point another chain of events, of{stage and then unknown to almost

everyone, needs to be described. The CIA’s plan was that Fidel Castro, and

perh'aps also his brother Raoul, and Ché Guevara (Castro’s military chief)
bg killed prior to D-Day. Using the Guatemala model alone, Allen Dulles ané
Richard Bissell felt America had a good chance of success. But with the Cuban
government so personalized, and power 5O dependent on the charisma of one
man, they thought they would virtually guarantee the success of the ex-
p.atnates, with minimal loss of life on both sides, if they effected an assassina-
tion prior to the troop landings.”

L) . 3 . » ’ .
Work on Castro’s personal elimination, by nonviolent or violent means,

began in December 1959 with what Allen Dulles believed was clear authoriza-

tion from Eisenhower. Various schemes were invented, for example to spray

C'astro’s broadcast studios witlf an LSD-like substance and to treat a box of
cigars with a similar compound so he would appear publicly disoriented and
erratic. Another plan was to dust his shoes with thallium salts to cause his
beard to mysteriously fall out and produce heightenéd mental instability. (1
return to this element in their calculations —their psychological assessment
of Castro — later.) But these ideas were recognized as more clever than likely
to be effective. A box of Castro’s favorite cigars was treated with botulism
toxin, although it was not delivered successfully.®

Planning to use a hit-man or team of hit-men, contract killers, began in
July 1960. By August, Richard Bissell was using intermediaries to negoiiate
a contract with the Mafia.%

The Mafia contract was negotiated through Robert Maheu, a former FB1
agent. whose private investigation firm included among its clients the reclusive
multimillionaire Howard Hughes. Maheu contacted John Rosselli. Rosselli
ha.d started out in Chicago under the mobster Al Capone: While not a Mafia
chief in his own right, he was the syndicate’s top man in Las Vegas.

Rosselli put the CIA in contact with Momo Salvatore (“Sam”) Giancana,
the Mafia chief in Chicago, and with Santos Trafficante, Mafia chief in

" Florida and former syndicate chief in Havana (under Batista). They agreed

to hc.:lp., but the motives involved were undoubtedly more complicated than
patriotism or money ($150,000 was a figure discussed).*

Schlesinger has speculated that Trafficante decided to be a double agent;
th.e plans never bore f ruit, he suggests, because the Mafia chief struck a deal
with Castro to use Cuba for drug smuggling to the United States, earning
Castro hard foreign exchange, and the Mafia a substantial profit.’’ By this
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scenario, Trafficante ostensibly went along with the CIA but was obtaining
the best of both worlds. He achieved (he thought) a “hold” over the United
States government to ward off future prosecution, plus the smuggling profits.
And the longer he tried and failed, the longer the situation worked to his
benefit. ‘

It is likely that others in the Mafia had other reasons for their involvement.
Schlesinger, uncommonly ingenuous, speaks only of their “grudge” at losing
$100 million or more per year because Castro threw them out and closed the
brothels and casinos.’ Obviously, there was not only a “grudge”; they
wanted to return to business as usual. Doubtless no government official
favored returning the mob to power, of would have made promises to that
effect. But it would have been clear that such hopes of the syndicate were
part of the context of the discussion.

The Mafia finally informed the CIA that recruiting 2 human assassin for
a gangland slaying was too difficult. Castro’s security was tight, and it would
be a suicide mission. They requested poison pills, and these were used in two
serious attempts to kill Castro prior to the invasion, one in March 1961, the
other in April, just before the scheduled D-Day.”

Did the president himself know at the time he approved the invasion that
the plan included assassination? The CIA says that he did. From everything
known about Richard Bissell—and he was widely regarded as an honest man,
a gentleman, and a highly professional civil servant —it seems certain he.
believed he had presidential approval for the assassination. He surmised that

it was given in very private, and possibly circumlocutory, discussion between
Allen Dulles and the presidents involved.* Dulles, of course, was deceased
by the time congressional inquiries opened in the mid-1970s, as were the two
presidents. There were no written records of such conversations, but it would
be standard tradecraft not to put such things into writing, and from this fact
no inference can be drawn.

Arthur Schlesinger, Jr., presents the best brief for Jack Kennedy and his
brother Robert, arguing that assassination approval was a misunderstanding,
one of those odd mix-ups.*! Everyone would know, Schlesinger says, that a
“king can do no wrong” code (“plausible deniability” is the standard term)

should govern any discussions. The president always needed deniability and
so he could not utter the exact words of approval himself: magically, by this
theory, he was not exactly “tied” to what would follow if he communicated
what he wanted without saying it in so many words. Knowing the code, no
one — as Richard Bissell put it —would “embarrass” a president by asking him
directly, thereby compromising him if he said yes.? A president and his CIA
chief (who, it was understood, would take the rap) could also then testify,
under oath if necessary, that there had been no formal approval for such an

operation. ‘
By Schlesinger’s theory, Allen Dulles played a too-subtle verbal game with
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!he president when they met in private and misunderstood his response. There
is no manual for new presidents indicating that when a CIA directc;r says
for exan.lp.le, that he is also discussing alternative ways to “eliminate” Castyr(;
by providing financial support to private groups who have that similar pur-
pose (or whatever euphemism might be used), alarm bells should ring in the
?.::;l:;::}:’s head a:nd l;e should anticipate that assassination plans will shift
gear unless he, at t i
e et him, hat moment, is alert enough to grasp what has
. A §econd route by which President Kennedy may have known of assas-
sination plans was established when Frank Sinatra introduced then-Senator
Kennedy t.o a buxom young woman, Judith Campbell, at a party. It has since
come t9 light that Kennedy started an affair with her that continued while
he was in the White House.** White House logs show more than seventy tele-
phone calls between them from January 1961 through March 22, 1962 when
Kennedy stopped the affair after a private meeting requested by i*‘Bl D’irector
J. E'dgar Hoover.* What was on Hoover’s mind was a Mafia connection:
Judith Campbell (later Judith Exner) was also the mistress of Sam Giancana'
who was sharing her with the president, and may in fact have been using he;
t‘;), hha;/‘e something on the president in case he had trouble with the law.
estac:“se‘r‘el;i?nedy knew of assassination plans through this channel is not
An.othcr piece of evidence that President Kennedy knew of the assassination
p}an is that Robert Kennedy later saw —in writing —reference to an assassina-
tion plan ggainst Castro. And he said nothing. It seemed not to surprise him
or catch his attention, although he was very angry that the CIA was dealin
with the mob (and at a time when he was prosecuting them more vigorousli

. than any other administration has wanted to do).* Given that he served with

Maxwell Taylor on his brother’s top secret postmortem commission—and
A!len Dulles said nothing to the commission (on the record) about it—he
might have been expected to react strongly if this information were a surprise
or a shocking piece of knowledge.

H .Kennedy did approve assassination efforts, it seems likely that he was
ambivalent ?bout them, since the use of Mafia hit-men was not the idealistic
'Cuba.n patriot f)peration he wanted. This would explain why, after the pre-
myasmn assassination failed, he became more concerned and tried at the last
mmutf: to cut back the operation and further reduce its possible cost

I lhlt.lk the presumption must be that Kennedy did know and apprové' the
best evidence (necessarily secondhand) by Bissell is that he did. There is,also
a doc_umemed discussion between McGeorge Bundy (Kennedy’s national
secu:uy advi§or)'and Bissell, early in the Kennedy administration, about the
CIA’s assassination capability, and Bundy made no effort to turn it of f.**
Moreover, Kennedy is on record as later telling a journalist he was being urg;:d
openly to order Castro’s assassination, contrary to Schlesinger’s theory that

v
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. . . o "
such discussions would never occur in the pres:siermal fp/r\e“se:c‘;l“ e/::ng1 :“
i i i he caution and experience O e .
seems quite unlikely, givent : Al the hat
i hance misunderstan ing.
would have left such an issue to € . . .
‘:; “plausible deniability” has worked the way it was designed to work; there

is no direct evidence, and on that basis 2 leap of faith could exonerate Kennedy.

igs decision by {
ensus [ avorable to the Bay of Pigs : ‘ visers.
‘I‘;; tch(:i‘rstestimony only Dulles, Cabell, and Bissell —among.gemor 31(;?;;;5‘.‘65
i ition And there is no evi ence
this additional element of the plan. : that
::ZwBisse“ themselves counted on this elemem succeeding — :)ut |g‘d|g offer
added hope that, with luck, the invaders might take control eastly.

Evolution of the Plan

.

Go Ahead. —John F. Kennedy to

Richard Bissell

n to the White House meetings

i i an retur :
Drawing upon this background, we ¢ e in ctines

that spring with a clearer understanding of the intellectual fr

A participants operated. . .
lhe’l‘f\::. C:)A’s T:)inidad plan was a Guatemala-like scenario- B-26 bombers

destro Castro’s air force and his microwave anq tel ;
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This Trinidad plan was discussed by the president and his advisers at several
meetings in February and March. Kennedy expressed his favorable attitude
in principle, but rejected the specific plan because it was public and dramatic,
jeopardizing the secrecy of America’s role.’® Moreover, there was no ade-
quate airstrip at the port of Trinidad that could be seized. The C1A proposed
to use bombers from Nicaraguan bases against Castro, but to do so would
implicate another country in continuing aggression against another Western
Hemisphere nation. Kennedy wanted to avoid that; it would create the belief
that the United States had given its approval to the other government.®

Kennedy, reviewing the plan, asked about infiltrating guerrillas in small

bands so their opposition would appear to arise within Cuba, but he later
agreed this would be too low-key to effect the desired psychological im-
pact.®® Instructed to develop other alternatives for a quiet invasion, the CIA
proposed three sites, favoring the Bay of Pigs. The Bay of Pigs lies on the
coast of south-central Cuba. It is isolated, sparsely populated, and the area
included an airstrip that could be seized. Surrounded by the Zapata swamps,
it was accessible by only three roads, built on dikes raised above the swamp,
which could be easily mined and blocked against attacking forces: an ideal
location for defense. Isolation of fered hope that the guerrillas could land and
secure their initial beachhead quietly, without opposition or detection. The
1,200 men and most of their ammunition and supplies could be put ashore
before sunrise. The rest could follow the next night. An American naval task
force would escort the vessels to Cuban territorial waters.

Consideration of the revised plan moved quickly.

The CIA pressed for speed because Castro had purchased MIG fighters
from Czechoslovakia, and Cuban pilots were expected to be trained and to
return by June. Against such weapons a small, “plausibly deniable” invasion
was impossible. The exiles could not use jets to battle Castro’s jets or to de-
fend the old B-26 bombers because possession of jets would prove American
sponsorship. Their old B-26s were the type of plane America had sold to
Batista or that might be purchased by expatriates on the black market.

Moreover, the CIA urged a speedy decision because the rainy season was
coming, which would make air operations dif ficult (the exiles needed to bomb
41l of Castro’s planes on the ground, and to see the targets). Nights were
becoming shorter and the troops were impatient and could not be trained fur-
ther in the rainy season. The Guatemalan government was restive and asked
that the expatriate troops leave by the end of April.¥

The CIA probably exaggerated the need for a decision within a few days.
But the tactic was useful and showed a sophisticated grasp of how to get things
done by setting a deadline. The CIA’s strategy had been to set March 15 as
D-Day in its January planning document. This later created the mind-set that

“D-Day is being allowed to slip” and the president needed to decide. Press-
ing the case for approval, Allen Dulles was now explicit about a “disposal
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problem.” That is, if Kennedy rejected the plan, 1,200 Cuban expatriates
would return to America, violently angry that Kennedy had abandoned the
fight against Castro and Latin American Communism —a fact that could not
be kept secret.’® Kennedy would have a serious domestic political problem.
It was certain that Richard Nixon would be an aggressive critic: Narrowly de-
feated for the presidency, an early advocate of the plan, stalking the adminis-
tration, alert to issues for his 1964 campaign, he was a man with an unerring
instinct for the political jugular. And the publicity would send the “wrong
message” —of faltering resolve—to the Soviet Union and other countries.

Why Did Kennedy Do It?

ClA will present a revised plan for the Cuban operation. They have done

a remarkable job of reframing the landing plan so as {0 make it unspec-

(acular and quiet, and plausibly Cuban in its essentials.
—McGeorge Bundy,
Memorandum for the President,
March 15, 1961%

With this background, we can draw a summary about why Kennedy gave
his approval.

A basic psychological truth is that the plan was never fully Kennedy’s own
plan. He came to office after the camp was established in Guatemala. When,
later, he asked rhetorically, “How could | have been 50 stupid to let them (sic)
go ahead?” he was expressing what had been his attitude all along. This was
not his operation but a plan designed and presented to him by holdover ap-
pointees from the Eisenhower administration.® His own instincts were com-
petitive, but fitted most comfortably with initiatives that were his own cre-
ation: the Alliance for Progress, the Peace Corps.® The decision he faced
was not how to get rid of Castro; it was what to do about this package on
his desk.

It is important to recall the international pressures. Fidel Castro—openly
linked with the Soviet bloc —captured imaginations, gave voice to discontent,
proved repressive regimes could be overthrown by guerrilla warfare. It was
the height of the cold war, the need to “pay any price, bear any burden” (as
he put it in his Inaugural Address) defined Kennedy’s view of the American
role in history as the responsible “guardian” of endangered freedom.

in favor of the operation was Kennedy’s instinctive attention to the drama
of single men or small bands challenging powerful forces and, in the eyes of
history, succeeding. He wrote Profiles in Courage, an appreciation of such
men. In his favorite novels (by lan Fleming) a single hero, the agent James
Bond, triumphed against the awesome forces of SMERSH. Kennedy believed

. in acting “with vigor,” and contrasted his administration with the dangerous,
somnolent passivity of Eisenhower. This was a drama, too, of his own life:

PLANS, A BATILE . . . AN T7VE 0

a grass roots movement challenged the established rulers of his own party for
the presidential nomination and he won his presidency at a comparatively
young age.® While other knowledgeable men disagreed (Senator Fulbright
of Arkansas, chairman of the Senate Foreign Relations Committee, wrote
Kennedy cautioning that Castro was “a thorn in the flesh, not a dagger at
the heart”), Kennedy was youthfully ready to imagine Castro’s challenge
would ignite idealistic revolution throughout the western hemisphere, and thus
was more willing to help a small group of young, patriotic challengers and
to believe they might have a chance, acting boldly and with courage, to cap-
ture popular imaginations themselves and succeed.® -

As Kennedy worked to make the operation one he could support, he re-
mained at a distance from it, and skeptical. Soviet premier Nikita Khrushchev
had warned publicly that the Soviet Union would support Cuba’s inde-
pendence.® Kennedy worried that the USSR might respond elsewhere (in
Berlin or Laos), and he thought a nuclear “missile gap” then favored the Soviet
Union. The world was dangerous not only because Communist revolutionaries
had gained a foothold on a Caribbean island. :

At the end, Kennedy decided favorably against a background of personal
and political success, the activist mood and style of his administration, and
the momentum of events. Activist commitments were reinforced by Kennedy’s
past success: he won the nomination and the presidency by them, and by ad-
vocating them. As the rhythm of events and anticipation quickened, the ad-
visers debated and then said yes. As D-Day approached there was both the
reassurance of past success and the almost visceral drive to go forward to bring
the drama to life.®

Central arguments against? Not many (according to Sorenson) were salient

to Kennedy if his expectations were fulfilled. He worked on the plan to

minimize every risk he could foresee: secrecy for American involvement (at
least enough), the guerrilla option if things turned bad.® A quiet landing at
a remote spot without press coverage. No overt American military involve-
ment that would provoke the Russians. Ultimately, all his senior advisers ap-
proved, and his best experts, with past success at these operations, said it had
a good chance. And he thought so t00.

But there is still a puzzle, and we will see later that Kennedy may have had
deeper, unspoken reservations. Ordinarily cool, analytical, and alert, he later
showed strong ambivalence, canceled his own crucial air strike at the last
minute, did it without consulting the experts he had relied on throughout,
and did so for-reasons that were spurious.

Yet even as he considered the plan, his mood varied. At times he was tough
and assertive: “We can’t go on living with this Castro cancer for ten years
more” he declared to one aide.*8 At another time, when another aide asked
him what he thought of the plan, he replied, “As little as possible.” His
personal decision process was to try on different postures, experiment to see
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how he felt, and search for a plan that would integrate satisfactorily his dif-
ferent reactions and instincts.™

We can probably infer that Kennedy was restive about being an “aggressor.”
As we will see in the next chapter, he worked hard to change the plan so he
could see it in other terms.

Perhaps other reservations were not spoken aloud. Wyden speculates that
Kennedy and his new advisers resented Ike’s remaining influence over them.
They resented being trapped by his plan now when, having defeated him and
what he stood for, they had obtained power. They could not be rid of the
plan directly, but they could distance themselves, withhold the personal in-
volvement that would make it their own and make it work, and allow it to
screw up.”

Another unspoken reservation may have been that Kennedy felt a degree
of ambivalent identification with Castro: the passionate, idealistic guerrilla
fighter with Kennedy’s own spirit who had overthrown a government and
spoke, Marxism aside, for many of Kennedy’s own ideals. Perhaps, too,
Castro stirred jealousy and competition: given a choice, would the Cuban peo-
ple prefer Castro—or Kennedy and his band of American liberal reformers?
(“We're the true revolutionaries,” Richard Bissell, a liberal with an affinity
to Stevenson and Bowles, told his staff after discussion of the new land
reform and social action programs the administration intended to see imple-
mented.)”

Typical analyses of major government decisions do not propose that sex-
ual connotations affect policy choices. Yet it should be acknowledged that
sexual metaphors were used openly by these men to discuss their decisions.
Kennedy said privately that the advisers who opposed intervention and sent
forth a verbal cloud of idealistic objections “lacked balls.”” And later, tell-
ing Sorenson that the last-minute equivocators were trying to protect them-
selves, he said, “everyone is grabbing their nuts on this.”” Richard Bissell
used sexual metaphor to discuss the secrecy issue: so long as the United States
retained a “fig leaf,” any outcry would dissipate.” Kennedy's resistance to
being drawn in had its analogue in the case of a man being tempted by an
affair but unwilling to find himself exposed, naked in public.”

A summary of the factors in Kennedy’s decision is provided in Table 1.1.
An asterisk appears before crucial but erroneous beliefs to be analyzed more
fully in the next chapter.

[ will return to a detailed discussion in later chapters, but for purposes of
this overview the following key events are important: all of Kennedy’s seniot
advisers favored the plan at a final large meeting on April 4. On April 5,
Kennedy met privately with Dean Rusk, Dulles, and Robert McNamara to
underscore his prohibition against American involvement.” Kennedy ap-
proved the plan, but he then severely reduced a first (D-2) air strike against
Castro’s planes (from sixteen to six) and did so at the last minute; he abruptly
canceled (again at the last minute) all air strikes for the morning of D-Day.

A
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Table 1.1. Why Kennedy Said “Go Ahead”

Situational Effects

1. Cqstro. as an activist and Marxist sympathizer, was perceived as a threat in the Western
Hemisphere, a threat likely to grow rather than diminish, and a threat linked to a powerful and
dangerous worldwide Sovict threat.

2. Plans and operational capabilities were already developed, waiting approval. He had to do
something with them.

3. The American government had achieved previous success by this model.

*4. American journalists, and elite opinion, would accept this type of operation and cooperate
to retain its covertness. .

5. The Soviet Union and other potential allies of Cuba were unlikely to render effective aid.

6. The Soviet Union was unlikely to retaliate by military action elsewhere if the operation re-
tained its “plausible deniability.”

Personal Predispositions of Kennedy

1. Kennedy perceived stronger themes of achievement and competition than did others, and was
attracted (o support dramatic adventures.
a. He had a history of personal activist success that produced a faith that his, and perhaps
others’, activist commitments would succeed.
b.hHe judged Castro a more dangerous and effective competitor in Latin America than did
others.
*c. He was personally attracted to support of idealistic, activist Cubans.
«d. He was ready to believe that the Cuban masses would rally to assure the success of the
exile challengers’ “New Frontier” cause.

2. He had residual deference to military and CIA expertise for those issues where he had no
expertise.

3. He tended to discount idealistic advisers who opposed cffective action by worrying about
morality.

Key Assumptions About the Plan

1. No downside risk to Kennedy (or U.S.)
*a, Secrecy -
*b. While the plan had some military risk (perhaps a % chance of success), the men could “go
guerrilla” if momentum was not established and a decisive, visible defeat could be avoided.
¢. No American military involvement would be required.
d. Soviet reprisal was unlikely given secrecy and no American military involvement.

*2. Amcrica was in a secondary, support role to patriotic Cubans who were eager to attempt
the job even without American military involvement.

~ *3. The Cubans were “New Frontier” reformers and idealistic patriots who would promote

Fidelismo sin Fidel.
*4. Castro’s military response would likely be ineffective.

*S.A mass uprising was expected because many Cubans opposed Castro’s “sellout” of a nationalist
revolution to Communism and probably would prefer a Kennedy-style leader.

6. Assassination of Fidel Castro would, if successful, assure low-cost success.

7. There was a_fserious “disposal” problem if the plan were aborted, with certainty of Republican
attacks, especially from Nixon, possibly supported by Eisenhower and Dulles. It would send
the “wrong message” internationally.

(continued)
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Table 1.1. Why Kennedy Said “Go Ahead” (continued)

Adpviser Support

1. He believed all senior advisers supported the plan.

2. The most qualified experts in American government (Dulles, Bissell, and the Joint Chiefs of
Staff) endorsed the plan and had (Kennedy thought) the clear understanding that no American
forces would be used. The past success of the same CIA team with a similar model in Guatemala
lent credibility to their judgment.

+3_“Bonsai” enthusiasm of final troop readiness and morale report. -

4. Kennedy believed Eisenhower endorsed the plan.

Time Pressures— “Last Chance”

1. MIG pilots, due soon, would abort a mission. This was the last chance to mount a small,
low-cost, volunteer operation. Later, a president would have to do the job with the air force
and the marines.

2. A rainy season was approaching, thus visibility would be reduced and additional training would
soon be impossible. :

3. Troop morale, at a peak, was likely to deteriorate with further delay.
4. The Guatemala government asked that troops leave by the end of April.
s. Growing momentum of the planning process.

BATTLE NARRATIVE

I will now turn to the overthrow attempt itself.
Air strikes were launched from “Happy Valley,” a base in Nicaragua. The

first strike, early on Saturday, April 15, sent two B-26s against each of the

three military airfields where U-2 spy plane photographs showed Castro’s
planes to be based: Camp Libertad outside Havana, Antonio Maceo Airport
in Oriente Province, and San Antonio de los Banos. Mario Zuiiiga flew direct-
ly from Nicaragua to Miami International Airport to provide a CIA cover
story that he and three other pilots, disenchanted with Castro, had defected
and dropped the bombs before they fled. His plane was painted with- Cuban
Air Force markings (as were all Brigade planes); bullets were fired into it
before he left Happy Valley; thirty minutes from Miami —according to plan—
Zuitiga opened his cockpit at 1,500 feet, and sought to enhance his story by
firing his revolver into one of his engines and feathering it.” )

Castro, altered by the raids to anticipate imminent invasion, implemented
standby plans for immediate police roundup of suspected members of the
underground and others whose loyalty was in doubt. He was not sanguine
in estimates of his potential opposition: between 100,000 and 200,000 peo-
ple were arrested and detained.®

To coincide with the first raids, the CIA planned a diversionary landing
on the east coast of Cuba, in Oriente Province. This feint, carried out near
a naval base the United States retained in Cuba (under a long-term lease) at
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Guantanamo Bay, was intended to be misinterpreted as the main invasion
and to draw Castro’s forces.® But the expatriate commander, to preserve
security, was not told how vital his role was to be. He believed he was resup-
plying guerrillas and that many others would be involved in similar actions
at other points around the island. When he judged he did not have a clear
path through the breakers to a landing site, and that he might have been
spotted and would face fire if a landing were attempted, he aborted the
operation. (Ten men equipped with radio were to have marked the landing
site. But four days earlier the team leader, conducting hand grenade instruc-
tion, accidently set off a grenade and blew up himself and his team.) Unknown
to the ship’s commander, four American destroyers were also in the vicinity
to strengthen the ruse by appearing on Cuban radar. That extra trick failed,
too: the Cubans did not have radar installations in the vicinity .8

The initial D-2 raids on Saturday morning took place at dawn and were
completed by about 6:30 A.M. At 10:30 A.m. the United Nations General
Assembly began a regular session. Dr. Raul Roa, Cuba’s foreign minister,
was in New York City to begin a debate, scheduled for Monday, of Cuba’s
charges that America was planning an invasion (Cuba was requesting col-
lective security assistance). The United States, as it had during the Guatemala
case in 1954, was already implying such charges were blatant Marxist prop-
aganda to discredit the United States falsely. Dr. Roa requested, and received,
a special session for that afternoon.

'Ambassador Adlai Stevenson, caught by surprise, checked with the State
Department, which checked with the CIA, and it sent back assurances the
defector was genuine. Stevenson delivered a ringing defense in the world’s
most public forum, dictated to him over the telephone, acting with assurance
that the facts had been “carefully checked.” His photograph, holding aloft
a picture of the Miami plane, appeared, together with his denial, on the front
page of papers around the world.

But meanwhile, the American press set to work on the cover story, and it
began to fall apart.* The plane had a metal nose cone (Castro’s B-26 force
had Plexiglas nose cones). One reporter walked close enough to the plane to
observe that its machine guns had not been fired. The pilot’s name was not
released — odd if he were a genuine defector, for Castro would already know
it —a mark of a potential CIA cover story. In New York, enthusiastic Cuban
expatriate leaders issued statements implying more prior knowledge of the
operation than they would have if the cover story (of a spur-of-the-moment
defection) were valid.

Stevenson’s staff pressed ahead, on Saturday and Sunday, to assemble the
technical detail needed to refute totally the baseless Cuban charges when U.N.
debate resumed on Monday. No one in Washington called Stevenson directly
to inform him the story was a lie. A member of his staff, asking for more
facts, was told simply that it “wouldn’t be worthwhile to pursue that line of
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inquiry any fonger.” That’s when Stevenson concluded he had been set up.
A proud man, twice the presidential candidate of his party, his anger made
itself felt later that Sunday in a cable to Dean Rusk which gave Rusk an ad-
ditional basis 1o urge on the president concern for the “international noise
level” problem in New York .*

At 1:45 p.u. Sunday, Kennedy gave final approval for the invasion; the
ships, south of Cuba, moved to final rendezvous. The CIlA flcet consisted
of two converted landing craft of jts own, the Blugar and the Barbary J., plus
old merchant boats owned by a Cuban cxpatriate firm in New York and
operated by the firm under contract (the Houston, Caribe, Atlantico, and
the Rio Escondido).* The crews on the civilian boats were not military vol-
unteers: when told their destination they were given a chance to leave the boats
before this final run. They remained on assurance that it would be a night
landing, uncontested, and that American ships would be there and “not let
them fail.”

The ships had moved toward thci( rendezvous by zigzag routes, to minimize
chance of detection. They were shadowed by ships of an American naval task
force. Under precisely drawn rules of engagement these American ships were
to monitor the invasion craft from a distance, refrain from radio contact,
render any navigation assistance needed, defend them and immediately escort
them back to a Central American port in the event of attack in international
waters."

The principal ships of the American naval task force were seven destroyers,
the carrier Essex (with an augmented amphibious assault force of 1,200
marines plus a squadron of jet fighters), and the LSD (Landing Ship Dock)
San Marcos.*™ The San Muarcos carried seven smaller boats (three LCUs —
landing craft atility and four LC VPs —landing craft vehicles-personnel) load-
ed with tanks, trucks, a bulldozer, and other heavy equipment. These seven
craft were off-loaded and turned over to the Brigade in international waters
three miles off the Cuban coast.

When the San Marcos of f-loading was completed, the boats started for-
ward and paused while teams of frogmen proceeded to the beaches. The frog-
men teams were led (against Kennedy’s orders) by the two senior C IA op-
eratives with the force, “Rip” Robertson and Gray Lynch. At one of the
three landing sites the frogmen’s rubber raft hit the off-shore coral reef the

CIA’s U-2 photo interpreters had thought to be scaweed. Memibers of a Cuban
militia patrol saw the raft coming in and, thinking they were fishermen, drove
down to the beach 1o flash the headlights of their jeep to warn of the reef,
The CIA man opened fire with his machine gun (the first shots fired at the
Bay of Pigs were fired by an American), his men opened up, and the two
Cubans who had come to offer assistance died in a hail of bullets. In the con-
fusion and excitement the order for the full landing to proceed was flashed
without remembering to mention the reef. Filled with anticipation, and with
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their outboards at full throttle, the first two contingents roared in, punctur-
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tion, other supplies, and the communications van. For the remainder of the
invasion there were virtually no vommunications between air and ground
forces. The dispersed ground forces, whose hand radios had become wet and
inoperative when the men were forced Lo wade ashore because of the reef,
were without cffective radio communications, %

With off-loading stalled, under air attack by Castro’s planes equipped with
machine guns and rockets, and without American jet support from the carrier
offshore, the civilian crews of the Atlantico and the Caribe, betrayed and
scared, headed for open sea at top speed with most of the Brigade’s ammuni-
tion supply aboard. They had not signed on to fight, had been assured the
invaders would control the air, and were without antiaircrafy weapons for
defense. Two of their sister ships were sunk, one exploding in their sight and
its crew members possibly killed. The Yankee task force had only sat out there
without the air support the men thought they had been promised. They had
no idea what game the Americans were playing, bui they were not going to
wait around to find out.” ‘

CIA officials in Washington were now scrambling to keep the invasion
together. They knew the men on the beaches had only a one-day supply of
ammunition. When the Caribe and Atlantico refused 1o answer radio calls,

two boats were rounded up and persuaded 1o return (the Caribe, the faster
of the two, was intercepted 218 miles south of Cuba), it became late Tues-
day afternoon before they arrived back at the “Poing Zulu” rendezvous off
the Cuban coast »

Under fire, the remaining boats pulled back 50 miles into international
waters. Rip and Gray, the CIA men, assured the Brigade they would return
to complete the unloading, but with the communications van at the bottom
of the ocean, there Was no communication (o the beaches during the rest of
the day (or, as i turnped out, on Monday night),

Back on the island, Brigade transport plancs (five C-46s, onc C -54) dropped
177 paratroopers at dawn 1o block the three roads. On the eastern front the
operation worked well, But on the western front the equipment for one group
landed in the swanip, Castro's swifi fesponse caught another group of “block-
ing” paratroopers behind enemy lines, and other men came down amidst heavy
fire and were driven back, 1% By 10:00 A-M., then, two of the three roads 1o
the beaches were open, the attackers had their supply lines cut, their back
was to the sea, they had a onc-day supply of ammunition, they were without
effective radio communications, and they lacked the aviation fuel and munj-
tions that would allow the Brigade B-26s 1o arrive from Nicaragua ang pro-
vide sustained tactical air support from the beachhead.
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But it did not seem desperate at thql ;;omt. i'l;l:;zye;g:tci::g :::itcl’;l)];:llyr.o IEIZy
“knew” the Americans were of fshorg in force, Brieade B 26 o e Ove;
and air support did appear from Nicaragua. Tyvo t|:19g00 s assed over
the battieficld and headed toward a concentration o a0 casiro forces.
They let loose with full loads of napal:n and fragmgel oS wthin
minutes the road was a wal! of t:lame. No guedo mS aligv ! ",“How bne loca
Brigade commander with pride, “Not e:“)ein the cathw: i m o el
it was,” a Brigade soldier remembered. ™ In less tha aets “shooting gallors

en incinerated or blown apart. That was how Bissell's _
3:;"1::: [::l':ng the three roads — and throughout Cuba — :va; s:lﬁposed to work,
Bt the o Few mimute lutratcd  harshenvenios or o invaders. The
J ' minutes illus 3 |
slo[:vu;:?;az:xéfzc:s lIill:;:]\'uwithout tail guns to increasg their pa'xlqgﬁz ;)r; :(:1\ :-:c
hour round trips from Nicaragua.'” Asd thcsbon;:bu;g r;;zar::s o and the
T-33 jet trainer and a Sea Fury 4 -
pl?es e%u:l:giru;’a?hinc gtjms to shoot down both .Bngadc plaqes. o
anTl:l: men cxpected their resupply on Monday night. Thcy ({sdknol“. r:ha[
the problems with the Adantico and the Caribe. N:;r ;illadl :)I:;); / r:voe v
munitions aboard the American task force, by presiden .
avallabl‘-‘-“'; morning, with approval of the president, Ri'cl.mrd Bissell now
§0f ITEZ S)-lDay slrii\"c (twenty-four hours latcr. ltjan orlgll}al!y pla:{leil::

Ol'd cxrven strike of six B-26s against Castro’s key alrhcld. to ellmmalhc .elsand

?né;inglplancs.““ Luck was on'Caslro's side that n\o"r:tr':g:rlt-::zll;)‘(g :‘15 ¢ and

low-lying clouds made it impossible !’or the B-2'6s toa \ ¢ ; e lons distance

to be {lown on a return flight to Nicaragua did not leave
i e sky to clear.™ _ . ' .

wall;yf:\l;dl::omiyng Tuesday, the Brigade was able to rig a ra;ln:)hgreo‘l;:;s) :; :ll;

the fleet offshore. They cursed the CIA but were _rgassuri rred S

a temporary delay in supply. Air dr‘ops ofamnl'unl{lohr: oc

day. They were promised their main suppl.y that nig l.makcrs e to seven

In Washington, the communication snarl l\g:pl dems'l? Takers five o seven
hours behind events. By Monday a'ftcrnoon Kennedy n:r\‘ pnre Was serious
trouble, and he was under increasn'ng pressure to ftl?t wi h Ammerican forces.

He did approve the Tuesday morning attempt to ¢ :mma e et

ing planes. But it was not clear to him that the Ammcz: Ao

the operation if it went in. And Kennedy was adamgn s Bodetine
against American involvement stood —much to _the surplr:;i o7 s advisers,
all of whom seemed to expect him to abandon his restric

ce";'lhfall;:ir:(:: survived on Tuesday because Castro’s forces difi not press.l;;l;
adva:tagf. Two captured paratroopc.rs told cqn.fhcu;:g s;on;e;: g:cl(e) rs::: 4
was part of a group of 1,000 defending a position a ead.
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the truth: only ninetecn men defended the road. Castro's commanders an-
ticipated an invasion force of 3.000 10 10,000. The Cuban officer thought
the second man was lying to lead him into a trap —the Americans would never
have put only nincteen men there —and spent hours waiting tor artillery (o
be.brought up to pound the position before sending his troops forward.""
Probably the second reason the Cuban advance delayed was that Castro
himself had rushed north, to the west of Havana, atter receiving reports at
about 1:15 a.m. Tuesday that led him temporarily to believe the Bay of Pigs
itselt was a feint and that the main landing was now beginning in Pinar del
Rio province on the west coast. This was the Pinar del Rio diversion (the
planned companion to Saturday’s aborted Mocambo diversion 1,000 miles
away on the castern coast), featuring what the CIA agents termed their “dog
“and pony” show. It was designed with the aid of the former employees of the
Walt Disney studios who had designed the special effects for Guatemala. Eight
boats, thirty-five to forty feet long, each towing several smaller boats, had
sailed secretly from Miami to stations off the western coast. They were
crammed with electronic gear. No ClA agents landed but, strung out along
the coast, the boats created a spectacular array of lights, sound effects, and
electronic signals to simulate a major invasion and battle. It worked to draw
Castro to the west and to keep him from being physically present to press
his commanders at the Bay of Pigs. But he judged he had cnough troops in
the Havana area and did not deplete his 20,000 man force cencircling the Bay
of Pigs, o
When the Caribe and the Atlantico reappeared Tuesday afternoon and
evening, the CIA men offshore worked frantically 1o prepare the resupply
for the beaches. Throughout the day they promised jet support, and many
more plane drops than actually occurred, judging that they served the men —
.and the cause — best by keeping up morale. They expected that somcthing
would soon happen, that surely Washington would sce the light. Then those
jets would be authorized and cargo resupplies airlifted to Nicaragua would
begin to be airdropped. They lied, but only in the sense of conveying facts
they hoped would become true."™ On the beaches, morale problems were
beginning to occur, but the men believed the promises, by and large. They
recalled carly assurances that if they held the beach for a few days a new pro-
visional government would land, be formally recognized, and then “all things
are possible.” With the airdrops that did arrive, and careful conservation of
ammunition, they could hold out until the Tucsday night resupply.

But the crews of the Caribe and the Adantico had other ideas than to face
dcath while Americans cheered but staved in international waters. They had
learned about official promiscs. On their return — and perhaps wiscly — they
threatened mutiny if their skippers took them back 1o the combat zonc on
renewed promises alone and without + isible, low jet cover from the Amcrican
carrier. It was clear unloading could not be completed by dawn and without
cover they would, once again, be vulnerable 1o Cuban air attack. Rip and
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authorized to rescue the men from the beaches. Pepe San Roman was told,
but he was not told the full story (which was not communicated, either, to
the CIA commanders) that the invasion was over and would receive no
American resupply. His Brigade, San Roman declared, would not retreat. He
still expected the Caribe and the Atlantico at first light, and he would wait
faithtully for the United States. "

In the early hours of Wednesday morning, instead of authorized air cover
for the ships, the CIA men offshore had received only the cryptic message,
“Hold where you are.™ Their message reflected that there would be no fur-
ther resupply. Bissell, Admiral Burke, and others had cxhausted their argu-
ments. They had proposed diverse options: naval air cover for the beaches,
long-range gun support from the destroyers, the landing of a company of
Marines.'" But the president would allow only the one hour of “passive” air
cover. (Judging it was out of the question, the CIA did not specifically re-
quest additional jet cover for arms resupply.) Just after midnight, early
Wednesday morning, Kennedy had finally decided to scuttle the operation,
concluding that “it was time to go guerrila.” And it was then, oo, he had
been shocked to learn that there was no guerrilla escape at this site: the
impenetrable Zapata swamps, and three roads blocked by 20,000 Cuban
troops, blocked any escape.' :

Rip and Gray, the CIA commanders, thought “hold where you are” meant
something would still happen.'*' They believed it could be turned around,
that jets would come momentarily when clearances came through and that
the leaders who wanted Castro climinated understood the situation. Late
Wednesday morning, their appeals to Washington inexplicably unanswered,
the frustrated and angry CIA men unilaterally decided to violate orders and
fight bcsid,_c the men they had helped to train. They decided 10 take their
resupply mission to shore and beach the boats rather than unload them. But
as they set out, broadcasting the latest of their assurances, Pepe San Roman
radioed that his ammunition was gone and Castro’s troops were moving in.
“Am taking 1o the woods. | can’t wait for you.” The battle was over.'

Among invading Cubans, 114 men died; among defending Cubans, about
1,200. Most of the invaders were captured by Castro’s torces, and the
later ransomed by Keanedy '
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Tavlor, Operation ZAPATA, p. 6.
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Defense Commitments (Washington, CT: Center for Information on America,
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ard Communist tactic, and the i asion alarm a catlous fabrication of Arbenz
acting under Soviet direction. See P. Taylor, “The Guatemala Affair: A Critique
of United States Foreign Policy” American Political Science Review 50 (1956):
787-806. ‘

The killings and torture to break the back of the (nonexistent) internal re-
sistance movement stepped up sharply after the clandestine radio began to broad-
cast-in June. A lesson to foreign nationals is that these brutal murders and tor-
tures were not included later, in the institutional memory of planners, when
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The State Department hinted that, as a potential Communist state, Guatemala
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After the failure, Kennedy said angrily America would not “be lectured on inter-
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of Budapest!™ “Address Before the American Society of Newspaper Editors™
(April 20, 1961). In J. Kennedy, Public Papers of John F. Kennedy, 1961 {Wash-
ington, DC: Government Printing Office, 1962), pp. 304-306.
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succeeding. A. Schlesinger, Robert F. Kennedy and His Times (Boston: Houghton
Mifflin, 1978), p. 443. To understand these assassination plans in the context
of the times it is well to recall that the key planners had served in World War
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Rosselli and Giancana were both killed after they had been called to testify before
the Church investigation but before they actually did so. Giancana was shot seven
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was hacked to pieces and the pieces of his body stuffed into an oil drum and
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zl;.s::';fs.\malir)ll “Mtempts, p. 130; D. Martin Wilder-
“Gallantine, 1981), p. 123, reports Catnpbclfwas also

$3. A summary of the president’s favorable view is located in M. Bundy, “National

Security Action Memorandum No. 31" (March 11, 1961) (Photocopy: Kennedy
Library): “The President expects to authorize US support for an appropriate
number of patriotic Cubans to return to their homeland. He believes that the
best possible plan, from the point of view of combined military, political and
psychological considerations has not yet been presented, and new proposals are
to be concerted promptly.” Meetings were large (15-20 people) and formal.
In addition to the president they usually included McGeorge Bundy, Arthur
Schiesinger, Jr., and (at times) Richard Goodwin from the White House; Dean
Rusk, Thomas Mann, and A. A. Berle from the State Department; Robert
McNamara, Paul Nitze, and Joint Chief's of Staff representatives (General Lem-
nitzer, the chairman, and Admiral Burke, chiel of naval operations, having
principal roles, with General Gray present as an aide in charge of CIA liaison)
from the Defense Department; Allen Dulles, Richard Bissell, and, at times, three
to four other officials (Tracy Barnes, Gen. Charles Cabell, “Jake Engler” and
Col. Hawkins) from the CIA.

54. Wyden, Buy of Pigs, pp. 100, 135.

$5. Bundy's testimony in Taylor, Operation ZAPATA, p. 176.

56. This was the reason, as well, to use old, leased Cuban boats to conduct the land-
ing rather than military vessels properly equipped for detense. The older, less
capable equipment needed for the cover story was later criticized in Maxwell
Taylor’s postmortem (sce chapter 3). But even without jets in Castro's hands,
it was recognized by Pentagon analysts that destruction of Castro's air force was
absolutely necessary, On March 10 the Joint Chiefs sent a report to the Secretary
of Defense warning the landing would Fail without absolute control of the air.
They wrote that even one Cuban aircraft with a .50-caliber machine gun “could
sink all or most of the invasion force.” U.S. Department of Defense, “Memoranda
for the Sceretary.” JCSM-146-61, enclosure A, pp. 8-9.

57. There was also an attempted army coup in Guatemala: The CIA used the ex-
patriates to aid its suppression. But the preparations were well known and con-
troversial in Guatemala and the government wanted the troops (o leave. The
November 13, 1960 attempt is discussed in Wise and Ross, Invisible Government,
p. 33.

58. Schicsinger, A Thousand Days, p. 242; Wyden, Bay of Pigs, p. 100; Schlesinger,
Robert F. Kennedy, pp. 453-454.

59. Note, especially, the expectation of a quiet landing.

60. Wyden, Bay of Pigs, p. 8.

61. Sce L. Etheredge, A World of Men: The Private Sources of American Foreign
Policy (Cambridge, MA: MIT Press, 1978); Schlesinger, A Thousand Days,
pp. 186-205.

62. For quantitative evidence that achievement and power motivation are part of
a foreign policy syndrome that includes perception of challenges and threats, sce

L. Etheredge, A World of Men.

63. Fulbright’s memo is reprinted in K. Meyer, ed., Fulbright of Arkansas (Wash-
ington, DC: Robert D. Luce, 1963). Robert Kennedy, in his Kennedy Library
interview by Martin (vol. 1, p. 60) asserted that Fulbright received a later brief-
ing, following which he indicated a moditying of his opposition. J. Fulbright
(personal communication) has said this is untrue.

Kennedy returned from his trip more militant than before, according to Schles-
inger, A Thousand Days, p. 251, Fulbright's memo notwithstanding. Kennedy
was vacationing in Florida at the home of Earl Smith, Eisenhower’s ambassador
to Cuba under Batista and an old family friend. See H. Thomas, The Cuban
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64.

65.

66.
67.
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69.

70.

71.

72.
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Revolution (New York: Harper & Row. 1977, p. 1309. Smith was passionately
anti-Castro and alleged in his memoirs The Fourth Floor: An Account of the
Castro Commumist Revolution (New York: Random House, 1962), pp. $2-34
that Cuban communists had plotted 1o assassinate him and that the State De-
partment had confirmed evidence of such a plan. Whether this way a.con-
temporary beliet and mentioned to Kennedy, or possibly tabricated and reported
in Smith’s memoirs as a later cover for the president should the administration’s
assassination plans become public, I hasve been unable to determine. An inguiry
to the State Department using the Freedom of Information Act did not yicld
copies of any reports wuch as Smith implied he received, but this search was not
detinitive.

See H. Dinerstein, The Making of a Missile Crisis, October, 1962 (Baltimure,
MD: Johns Hopkins Univ. Press, 1976), pp. 80-87. Khrushchev was tahen to
be speaking figuratively when he initially said Soviet rockets would support Cuban
independence.

Schiesinger, A Thousand Days, chapters 1-6; also Wyden, Bay of Pigs, p. 316,
makes the case for such learning.

1 discuss the risk reduction logic of this decision process further in chapter 6.
Rusk was equivocal, but Kennedy perceis ed him 1o be 2 supporter. See Wyden,
Bav of Pigs. p. 305, For Berle's views, see-A. Berle, “The Cuban Crisis: Fatlure
of American Foreign Policy™ Foretgn Affuirs 39 (October 1960): 4055,

Note that Kennedy had received a long memorandum, via Schlesinger, from
Harvard professors John Plank and Bill Barnes, also strongly arguing against
the invasion. Plank’s conclusion, *We had access to the top of power, and there
was nothing we coutd do to stop it” is relevant to the discussion in chapiers §
and 6 that motivation, not faiture to hear the available evidence and argument,
was the central determinant. See Wyden, Bay of Pigs, p. 125.

(bid. T. Sorenson, Kernedy (New York: Harper & Row, 1965) and other liberals
have tended to see Kennedy as more reluctant.

In fact, he appears to have revealed himself differently, in these informal dis-
cussions, to men who shared the view he was expressing. This may hase been
politically astute, but 1 think he also instinctively surrounded himself with peo-
ple who were, in effect, different aspects of himself. He then used them as sound-
ing boards to express and integrate his different. moods and reactions in deci-
sion making. Bundy himself was unsure of the president’s true feclings. Recently
he has said he thought, in 1961, that Keniedy did not like the invasion idea. Now,
looking back, he believes Kennedy wanted the plan to succeed. Robert Kennedy's
aggressive stance, and the role he played with the president’s knowledge must
count, | think, as expressing an aspect of the president’s own personality. Sce
Wyden, Bav of Pigs, p. 165 and Mosiey, Dudies, pp. 464-474, passim. | will argue,
in chapter 6, that the question is fiot cither7or but that Kennedy was both confi-
dent and assertive and apprehensive and reluctant.

Wyden, Buy of Pigs, p. 318, There could be such deeper considerations at work.
Freud would have said that deference and covert hostility toward older or more
powerful male adubts are commonplace. There are no accidents in mental lite,
the master said, and certainhy some ordinarily very bright peopte “screwed up.”
There is no explicit evidence for or against the idea in this case.

Bissell's politics are discussed in Parmet, JFK, p. 160.

Wyden, Buy of Pigs, p. 120.

Ibid., p. 165. In fact, there is hittle evidence of this. At least by Schiesinger's ac-
count in A Thousand Days the manitest mood was belligerent. That Kennedy
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thought otherwise might —but there is no additional evidence —suggest that he
telt some of this instinct.

Quoted in Wyden, Bay of Pigs, p. 142.

A deeper sexual fogic might mean, one step further, that if the president tully
committed himself to the CIA's plans (America’s power ¢.uals his power), they
(these Eisenhower carry-overs) would have him by the bais ... and he reais
did not like that idea. Whether Kennedy thought of power with these undertones
is unclear: To leave the issue elusive, with a “fig leaf,” seems 1o be what the
evidence compels. A sexual analogy underlay Gray Lynch’s postmortem schema
for an operation which almost got him killed: “Superman was a fairy.” Wyden.
Bay of Pigs, p. 302.

These were all busy men, especially so at the beginning of a new administration.
But there is no exoncrating evidence that this was a hasty decision: No participanis
tater complained they had tacked an opportunity to be bricfed about the plan
fully or 10 discuss it at length. Kennedy did not receive a full-dress military bniet-
ing, but he did not request it and felt he had ample time 1o take a Florida vaca-
tion. They apparently spent at least fifteen 1o twenty hours focusing on the
problem in formal sessions with the president in the thieo months prior to the
invasion. There were seven formal meetings involving the  resident: January 28,
February 8, March 16, March 29, and April 4, 12, and 17 are listed by Bund:
in *“Memorandum to Lt Col. Benjamin Tarwater.,” May 2. 1961, (Photocop:.
Kennedy Library.) Wyden, Bay of Pigs, p. 99, adds a mect:ng on March 1), The
most detailed discussion of the crucial April 4 meeting v Wyden, Bay of Pigs.
pp. 146-150.

P. Blackstock, The Strategy of Subversion: Manipulating the Policies of Other
Nations (Chicago: Quadrangle, 1964), p. 240. The president’s decision was alvo
conveyed in a memorandum on April 13 1o Rusk, McNamara, and Dulles from
McGeorge Bundy: “There will be no employment of U.S. armed forces against
Cuba unless quite new circumstances develop.” “Memorandum of April 13, 1961.7
(Declassificd October 17, 1983). Photocopy, Kennedy Library.

Wise and Ross, The Invisible Government, pp. 13-14; Wyden, Bay of Pigs, pp.
175-176. Use of napalm was ruled out against the Havana area for fear of “con-
cern and public outery,” but it was approved for the beachhead area. The restric-
tion probably reduced the ef fectiveness of the D-2 strikes. See Taylor Operation
ZAPATA, pp. 95, 346.

To retain security, the CIA (probably wiscly) did not alert the indigenous Cuban
underground. Earlier writers were unaware of the CIA' independent radio
operator net, controlied separately from the Cuban underground, that was to
be used. It is still unwise 1o reach a conclusion about how effectively Castro’s
sweep worked to disrupt operational plans, especially as the CIA believed 2,500
members of the Cuban military would aid the expatriate cause if it established
momentum. Who these people were, where they were placed, what they were
prepared to do, and whether they were vulnerable to the mass arrest counterplan
Castro prepared is still classificd.

Guantanamo was ruled off limits to the invaders; planes were forbidden to land
there in the cvent of trouble.

Sce Taylor, Operation ZAPATA, pp. 96-97; Wyden, Bay of Pigs, pp. 170-172.
Wyden, Bay of Pigs, pp. 186-190; Stevenson declared the planes involved “to
the best of our knowledge were Castro's own airforce planes.” Wise and Ros».
Invisible Government, pp. 15-17.

The New York Times, its lead story filed from Miami by Tad Szulc, was promi-
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85.
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87.

88.
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9).
. Ibid.

_The reason for the Tailure was never established, although it suggests sabotage

97.

98.

101.

nent among the skeptics. But until several investigative reporters began to write
skeptical stories, the major news services and many newspapers treated the CIA™
defector cover story as authoritative fact. For example, AP's wire report from
‘Havana on April 15 began with the lead, . “Pilots of Prime Minister Fidel Castro’s
air force revolted today and attacked three of the Castro regime’s key air bases
with bombs and rockets.” See Wise and Ross, Invisible Government, p. 18.
Wyden, Bay of Pigs. p. 189. Stevenson’s cable arrived at the State Department
at 7:33 p.m. The timing suggests it precipitated a call from Rusk to Kennedy.
Wise and Ross, Invisible Government, p. 45, add a fifth ship, the Lake Charles.
Wydcn, Bay of Pigs, p. 216, also records five ships; the Lake Charles, however,
did not reach the beaches in time for the battle. 1bid., p. 292n.

The American naval vessels were also ordered to paint over their identification
numbers, a maneuver that would presumably make them less “American” 1o re-
porters, if the ships should later be observed off shore, and also appear less
“overt” to the Russians.

The carrier USS Boxer was also in the vicinity, equipped 10 use new helicopter
assault (“vertical envelopment™) tactics. See Blackstock, The Strategy of Sub-
version, p. 248. It was not officially part of the task torce but its preseace and
capability were intentional.

Wyden, Buy of Pigs, pp. 217-220.

thid., p. 221.

by agents Castro would surcly have attempted to place within the invasion force.

. Equipment included tanks and other vehicles.
. Wydcen, Bay of Pigs is the principal English-language source for Castro’s view

of the operation, esp. pp. 248-262.

. Ibid., p. 249; Taylor, Operation ZAPATA, p. 97 on Cuban troop coordination.
. The reef misidentification is discussed in Wyden, Bay of Pigs, pp. 136-138,

Cubans with the invasion force hnew of the reet but the CIA ofticials relied on
U-2 photographs and interpreters in Washington. Local CIA ofTicials thought
the Cubans who brought the problem to their attention were just nervous and
responded with kindly reassurance that everything would turn out.

No Americans were aboard these boats because of Kennedy's orders to keep
Americans out of the combat zone. This reduced American control at a crucial
time.

The basic source on battle events is Wyden, Bay of Pigs, pp. 210-288, sup-
plemented by Johnson, The Buy of Pigs. The Taylor commission testimony, taken
before the imprisoned Brigade members were ransomed, is less reliable.

. Distances are given in Taylor, Operation ZAPATA, p. 283. Without this crucial

ammunition, the CIA tried to keep the invasion alive by airdrops and tactical
air support for the beaches from Guatemala, The long distances, and the round
trip required by the absence of a beachhead airstrip for refueling, gave planes
only about 30 minutes over the beaches.

. Castro’s tactical grasp was excellent as, unknown to the CIA, the Bay of Pigs

region was his favorite fishing spot. He urged great speed because he anticipated
his greatest danger would come if a beachhead were established and America
could “recognizc” a liberation government to legitimate direct American involve-
ment. See, for example, Wyden, Bay of Pigs, p. 258.

Johnson, The Buy of Pigs, provides eyewitness accounts.
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Once on the ground it took one to two hours to turn around an expatriate plane
for another run. See Taylor, Operation ZAPATA, pp. 119, 233. The absence
of tail guns to increase payload was deliberate and reflected a consistent planning
assumption between the CIA and JCS that either there would be air cover or
complete destruction of Castro's air force. Castro’s planus, of course, could be
rearmed and turned around without seven-hour flying delays.
Communication snarls kept Washington from accuratc knowledge of many
issues, but the need for ammunition was clear to them. The Lake Charles was
not due for several days.

R. Bissell (personal communication). Presidential approval reflected new con-
sideration on Monday's situation and was not an automatic carry-over of the
delay decision on Sunday.

Eatlier efforts to obtain a closer launch point had not been successful, and the
president had forbidden use of bases on the American mainland.

This is Walt Rostow’s view. Rostow was present during these discussions. He
later said, “It was inconceivable to them that the President would let it openly
fail when he had all this American power.” Wyden, Buv of Pigs, p. 270.
Wyden, Bay of Pigs, p. 180, on Castro’s planning assumptions.

Ibid., pp. 258-259.

Some degree of delay can likely be attributed to Kennedy's cover-story insistence
on going ahcad with an apparently normal work (and weekend) schedule and
to his reluctance to make any decisions until he had more facts. He insisted on
making the key decisions but had not prepared himsell to do so, lacked a good
conception of the terrain, and did not take obvious steps, e.g., radio replacements
from the naval task force, to get him the timely information he needed.
Wyden, Buy of Pigs, p. 281. ,

Quoted in Schlesinger, Robert F. Kennedy, p. 445.

It was uscd once to evacuate wounded.

Wyden, Bay of Pigs, pp. 235-236, suggests that Americans began to substitute
on Tuesday.

President Kennedy was not informed of this violation. He only learned of it
months later when the widow of one of the men — in the face of repeated official
denials from the burcaucracy that it had no information about her husband —
pursued the issue successfully through a member of Congress.

Wyden, Bay of Pigs, pp. 242-243; Wise and Ross, Invisible Government, pp.
68-71.

The navy destroyed all records of its operations, a standard procedure for covert
work.

Wyden, Bay of Pigs, p. 221. Kennedy quoted the Brigade commander’s refusal
in a speech to a meeting of newspaper editors to illustrate the zeal of the men.
J. Kennedy, “Address.” It is unlikely he realized the CIA commander on the scene
had unwittingly encouraged the men to wait for resupply, which the commander
thought would be approved.

Wyden, Bay of Pigs, p- 218.

Wise and Ross, Invisible Government, pp. 67-68.
Wyden, Bay of Pigs, p. 271.

1bid., pp. 281-282. Even twenty years later, the CIA commanders and naval com-
manders of the task force (who monitored the battle but continually had to refuse
aid, by presidential order, to men being killed) were traumatized. Bissell likely
judged astutely that, had he told the complete truth, the CIA commanders, loyal

t
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to their men, would have disobeved and effected a resupply carly on Wednesday.
Given Kennedy's views, and the hopelessness of further fighting, it likely scemed
prudent, and perhaps an act of humanity, to cut off the Brigade's ammunition.,
122, 1bid., p. 287.
123. Kennedy threatened an invasion to save the lives of the men, anticipating Castro
might otherwise execute them.



